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DECISION AND DISMISSAL OF COMPLAINT  

 

 On September 15, 2017, Lisa Miro (the Complainant) filed a complaint with the 

Connecticut State Board of Labor Relations (the Labor Board), amended on January 24, 

2018, alleging that the City of Bridgeport (the City) engaged in practices prohibited by 

the Municipal Employee Relations Act (the Act) by refusing to recognize Complainant as 

a member of an existing bargaining unit and by terminating Complainant’s employment 

in retaliation for filing said complaint. 

 

 After the requisite preliminary steps had been taken, the case came before the 

Labor Board for a formal hearing on April 11, 2018 and May 30, 2018.  The parties 

appeared, were represented by counsel, and were provided a full opportunity to submit 

evidence, examine and cross-examine witnesses and make argument.  The parties 

submitted post-hearing briefs on July 24, 2018.  Based on the entire record before us, we 

make the following findings of fact and conclusions of law and we dismiss the complaint.
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    FINDINGS OF FACT 

 

1. The City is an employer within the meaning of the Act.   

 

2. At all times relevant hereto, the Laborers’ International Union of North America, 

Local 1224 (“Union” or “LIUNA”) has been an employee organization within the 

meaning of the Act and has been the bargaining agent for a unit of certain City 

employees, including the position of youth program manager.
1
   

 

3. At all times relevant hereto, LIUNA and the City were parties to a collective 

bargaining agreement (Ex. 7) that provides, in relevant part: 

 

ARTICLE 1 – RECOGNITION 

 

 1.1 The Employer recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining 

 agent . . . for all those positions  . . . listed by job group herein, (see Appendix A 

 attached hereto). The Union reserves the right to claim additional or changed 

 positions. 

 . . .  

 

 

ARTICLE 3 – BARGAINING UNIT 

  

 . . . 

 

 3.2 Reduced-time employees who work twenty (20) hours or more per week 

 are included in the bargaining unit; those who work less than twenty (20) hours 

 per week are excluded.  Temporary positions of four (4) months or less shall be 

 excluded from the bargaining unit. 

 . . .  

 

ARTICLE 11 – VACANT POSITIONS/TRANSFERS 

  

 11.1 The City agrees that vacant positions in the bargaining unit shall be 

 posted for a minimum of ten (10) working days in the Human Resources Office. 

 

 11.2  The City shall send a copy of the posting to the Union prior to or at the 

 time of the posting. 

 . . . 

  

 11.4 Employees in the bargaining unit who meet the minimum qualifications 

 may apply for the position.  The City agrees that preference shall be granted to 

 employees with substantially equivalent qualifications in accordance with 

 seniority in the filling of vacant positions within the bargaining unit.  However, 

 final determination as to the filling of such positions shall be at the sole discretion 

 of management. 

 . . . 

                                                 
1
  LIUNA was notified of the proceedings shortly after the complaint was filed and declined to participate.  
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ARTICLE 14 – GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE 

 

 14.1 Any grievance or dispute which may arise between the parties, concerning 

 the application, meaning or interpretation of this Agreement, shall be settled only 

 in the following manner: 

  

            STEP 1 – The employer or the Union Representative . . . shall file the grievance 

 or dispute with the employee’s Department Head . . .  

  

 STEP II – If the grievance still remains unadjusted, it shall be presented by the 

 Union Representative to the City’s Labor Relations Office . . .  

  

 STEP III – If the grievance is still unsettled, either party may . . . request 

 arbitration . . . The decision of the arbitrator(s) shall be final and binding . . .  

 . . .  

 

APPENDIX A 

Job Groups 

 

 . . .  

 PROGRAM SITE MONITOR 

 . . .  

 SPECIAL PROJECTS COORDINATOR-P 

 . . .  

 YOUTH PROGRAM MANAGER 

 . . .  

 

4.  At all times relevant hereto, the City regularly hired a substantial number (1,200 

to 1,500) of temporary seasonal2
 employees from May to August. 

 

5. The original job description (Ex. 13) for the positon of youth program manager 

(YPM) in the City’s Lighthouse program
3
 provided, in relevant part: 

 

 ILLUSTRATIVE DUTIES 

 

 1. Staff all meetings of the MYAB
4
 and its committees. 

                                                 
 
2
 “Seasonal” employees are those holding classifications no longer than 120 days in accordance with 

Section 7-467(3) of the Act that states: 

 

 (3) “Seasonal basis” means working for a period of not more than one hundred twenty calendar 

 days in any calendar year;… 

 

Conn. Gen. Stat. § 7-467(3).   

 
3
 The City’s Lighthouse program (Lighthouse) is an after-school program that services approximately 2,500 

children daily and has existed for twenty-five years.  See City of Bridgeport, Decision No. 4706 (2014).   

 
4
 “MYAB” is an acronym for Mayor’s Youth Advisory Board. 
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 2.  Work with the MYAB to establish a framework to evaluate all youth  

  programs and services in the City. 

 3.  Keep the MYAB informed of all new programs and proposals submitted  

  to the City. 

 4.  Collect information and develop a database for all existing public and  

  private programs for youth and their families in [the City]. 

 5.   Develop, disseminate and maintain a comprehensive community   

  calendar/directory/website of all existing and planned youth programs and  

  services in the City. 

 6.  Serve as the main source of information for all community questions  

  concerning youth programs and services; staff youth hotline. 

 . . .  

 

6. Judith Marella (Marella) held the Lighthouse YPM position for fifteen years and 

after she retired in April 2016, Lighthouse director Tammy Papa (Papa) performed the 

YPM duties in addition to her other work. 

 

7. Complainant worked in various City positions from 2009 to 2014 and in early 

June 2016,  Complainant told City public facilities director John Ricci (Ricci) that she 

was unemployed and needed work. Ricci responded that he could hire her to a seasonal 

City position and that hopefully she would find a permanent City position in the future. 

Ricci then informed Papa that he was seeking to place a temporary employee and Papa 

responded that her office was short-staffed and would welcome the placement. 

 

8. On June 8, 2016, City payroll clerk Ellen Gerrity notified City HR generalist Eric 

Amado (Amado) that Complainant had been offered a seasonal “beach supervisor” 

position with the City’s parks and recreation department at an hourly rate of $18.00 

without benefits. The following day, Amado met with Complainant at the City’s civil 

service office to process her hiring paperwork and although Amado informed 

Complainant that her position was seasonal and temporary, he did not inform her of the   

beach supervisor designation. (Ex. 8). 

 

9. On June 13, 2016, Ricci assigned Complainant to Lighthouse and Complainant 

commenced working full-time
5
 and was initially responsible for scheduling interviews of 

applicants for the summer training and employment program. Although Complainant 

subsequently managed professional development for Lighthouse staff and attended 

certain youth services meetings, she received no training and did not perform the 

essential duties of the Lighthouse YPM, either as set forth in the original job description 

or as subsequently revised. 

 

10. On October 7, 2016, Papa submitted a personnel position request form seeking to 

fill the YPM position vacated by Marella (Ex. 16).   

 

11. By letter (Ex. 26) to Complainant dated November 16, 2016, Ricci stated, in 

relevant part: 

  

                                                 
 
5
 E.g., 40 hours per week. 
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 This letter is to inform you that your seasonal position with the  [City’s] Parks and 

 Recreation Department has concluded. 

 

 Therefore, your last scheduled work day is Wednesday, November 23, 2016. 

 . . .  

 

Ricci sent the letter with no intent to terminate Complainant’s employment and 

Complainant continued working at Lighthouse. 

 

12. On February 7, 2017, the City’s personnel director approved Papa’s request to fill 

the YPM position and on April 4, 2017, the City notified members of LIUNA’s 

bargaining unit by posting that the position was available. (Exs. 16, 20). 

 

13.  On March 16, 2017, the Lighthouse YPM job description was revised (Ex. 14) to 

provide, in relevant part: 

  

 ESSENTIAL DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

 . . .  

 1. Assist the Director with all functions of the Youth Service Bureau Grant  

  including but not limited to the application process at the state and local  

  level, grantee site visits, meetings and expenditure review; as well as  

  attendance at state mandated trainings. 

 2. Attend all state mandated YSB trainings and participate in local youth  

  focused meetings. 

 3. Serve as the main source of information for all community questions  

  concerning youth programs and services and facilitate connections for  

  families needing assistance. 

 4. Develop, implement, seek funding for and evaluate high school programs  

  and activities including a summer training and employment program. 

 5. Plan and coordinate professional development workshops for staff at  

  public and private after-school programs in Bridgeport. 

 6. Assist with summer teen employment applications. 

 7. Maintain records of all Lighthouse staff certifications and professional  

  development participation. 

 

14. On April 6, 2017, Lighthouse site monitor/special projects coordinator and 

LIUNA bargaining unit member Mark Harp (Harp) signed the YPM posting indicating 

his interest in the position. (Ex. 20). 

 

15. During the summer of 2017, Complainant sent multiple text messages to City 

officials including Ricci, the City’s mayor, and the City Attorney’s office, stating that her 

pay was not commensurate with her working hours and duties at Lighthouse. 

 

16. By email to City benefits manager Rich Weiner (Weiner) on August 23, 2017 at 

2:45 p.m., Complainant stated, in relevant part: 
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 I don’t recall ever getting a 1095-C form.
6
 I’ve been working full time since June 

 2016, but have never been offered insurance. What do I report to the IRS? 

 

By responding email to Complainant and Weiner that day at 3:46 p.m., City employee 

services coordinator Monquencelo T. Miles (Miles) stated, in relevant part: 

 

 According to Civil Service, you were hired as seasonal/part time employee. 

 Seasonal employees are not eligible for health insurance coverage . . .  

 

By responding email to Miles and Weiner that day at 3:47 p.m., Complainant stated: 

 

 I’m aware of that, but I’ve been full-time since June 2016. 

 

By responding email to Complainant and Weiner that day at 3:52 p.m., Miles stated: 

 

 When we (Benefits) are notified that you have been hired into a full-time position 

 with health insurance coverage by Civil Service, we will enroll you in the City’s 

 plans. 

 

(Ex. 19). 

 

17. At some point in August 2017, Harp filed a grievance contending that 

Complainant was performing bargaining unit work and, based on information provided at 

a Step II hearing, senior labor relations officer Philip White (White) determined that the 

allegation was true and sustained the grievance. 

 

18. At some point in August 2017, Papa asked City mayoral chief of staff Dan 

Shamas (Shamas) whether there was a full-time permanent position with benefits 

available to Complainant and Shamas responded that there might be a position at the 

City’s water pollution control authority office.   

 

19. On September 15, 2017, Complainant’s prohibited practice complaint was filed. 

 

20. On September 20, 2017, Papa approached Complainant in the Lighthouse office 

and informed Complainant that she believed the City would be terminating 

Complainant’s Lighthouse employment and offering Complainant another City position. 

Papa urged Complainant to accept the position and to withdraw the pending prohibited 

practice complaint. Complainant responded that she had been working hard for over a 

year and had been promised retroactive compensation. 

 

21. On September 21, 2017, and prior to 11:32 a.m., Papa contacted Complainant by 

telephone and again urged Complainant to accept another City position and to withdraw 

her pending prohibited practice complaint. By text message (Ex. 27) to Papa at 11:32 that 

morning Complainant stated, in relevant part: 

 

                                                 
6
  26 U.S.C. §6056 obligates large employers to report to the Internal Revenue Service the availability of 

health insurance to employees and  Form 1095-C is used to satisfy this obligation. See 26 C.F.R. 

§301.6056-1(c)(1). 
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 [P]ertaining to your phone call this morning. I will drop the lawsuit if they give 

 me the retro promised. That is not unfair to ask Tammy.  I’ve been doing the 

 work and I did my job in good faith waiting for my salary and benefits. There is 

 no reason why they can’t make good on their promise . . .  

 

22. By email (Ex. 24) to Complainant on September 21, 2017 at 1:23 p.m., Amado 

stated, in relevant part: 

 

 Congratulations on be [sic] offered the position of Typist II with the [City’s] 

 Water Pollution Control Authority! Attached for your review and acceptance is 

 your official offer letter.  Also attached, is a general benefits overview afforded to 

 this position if you were to accept. 

 

 Please indicate your acceptance of this position on all terms by signing the offer 

 letter and returning to me.  If you choose not to accept this position please reply 

 back to this email, declining this offer . . .  

 

23. Approximately one hour after Complainant received Amado’s email on 

September 21, 2017, City labor relations officer Philip White (White) summoned 

Complainant to his office where she met with White and Ricci. White presented 

Complainant with a letter (Ex. 11) from Ricci dated September 20, 2017, that states, in 

relevant part: 

 

 This letter is to inform you that your temporary/seasonal position with the [City’s] 

 Parks and Recreation Department has concluded.  Therefore, your last scheduled 

 work day is effective, September 21, 2017.  

 . . .  

 

White and Complainant discussed the job offer referenced in Amado’s email and the 

termination of her position at Lighthouse and the meeting ended. 

 

24. Complainant’s City employment ended on September 21, 2017 and Complainant 

did not accept the position of Typist II with the City’s water pollution control authority. 

 

25. On February 20, 2018, Harp commenced employment in the Lighthouse YPM 

position posted on April 4, 2017.   

 

26. At all times relevant hereto, the wages and benefits associated with the 

Lighthouse YPM position were substantially greater than the wages associated with the 

City position Complainant held from June 13, 2016 to September 21, 2017. 

 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 

1. An individual employee has standing to file a prohibited practice complaint. 

 

2. The City did not interfere with or restrain Complainant’s right to join an 

employee organization when it declined to recognize Complainant as a member of an 

existing bargaining unit. 
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 3. A violation of Section 7-470(a)(3) of the Act results from the discharge of or 

discrimination against an employee for having signed or filed an affidavit, petition or 

complaint or for having given information or testimony under §§ 7-467 to 7-477 

inclusive. 

 

4. The City did not violate Section 7-470(a)(3) when it discharged Complainant. 

 

DISCUSSION 

 

 The amended complaint in this case alleges violations of Sections 7-470(a)(1) and 

(3) of the Act.
7
  Specifically, Complainant alleges that the City interfered with her 

assumption of her rightful status as a member of the LIUNA bargaining unit by 

intentionally misclassifying her as a seasonal beach supervisor and that the City 

terminated her in response to her prohibited practice complaint alleging wrongful 

misclassification. 

 

 The City contends that Complainant has failed to establish that she occupied a 

bargaining unit position during the period of time in question or that she was terminated 

in retaliation for filing a prohibited practice complaint. Given the record before us, we 

agree with the City that Complainant did not serve as the Lighthouse YPM, de facto or 

otherwise. We further find that while the Complainant’s termination was causally related 

to the filing of her prohibited practice complaint, she was ultimately discharged for 

reasons permissible under the Act. 

 

 Complainant alleges that the City intentionally misclassified her as a seasonal 

beach supervisor to exclude her from the definition in Section 7-467(2)
8
 of an 

                                                 
7
 Conn. Gen. Stat. § 7-470(a)(1) and (3) state, in relevant part: 

  

 (a) Municipal employers  . . .  are prohibited from: (1) Interfering, restraining or coercing 

 employees in the exercise of the rights guaranteed in section 7-468 . . .  (3) discharging or 

 otherwise discriminating against an employee because he has signed or filed any affidavit, 

 petition or complaint or given any information or testimony under section [7-471(5)] . . .  

 

Conn. Gen. Stat. § 7-468(a) states, in relevant part: 

 

 (a) Employees shall have, and shall be protected in the exercise of, the right of self-organization, 

 to form,  join or assist any employee organization, to bargain collectively through representatives 

 of their own choosing on questions of wages, hours and other conditions of employment and to 

 engage in other concerted activities for the purpose of collective bargaining or other mutual aid or 

 protection, free from actual interference, restraint or coercion. 

 

Conn. Gen. Stat. § 7-471(5) states, in relevant part: 

 

 (5) Whenever a question arises as to whether a practice prohibited by section [7-470]  . . .  has 

 been committed by a municipal employer  . . . the  [Labor Board] shall consider that question  

 in accordance with the following procedure: (A) When a complaint has been made . . .  

 
8
 Conn. Gen. Stat. § 7-467(2) states, in relevant part: 

 

 “Employee” means any employee of a municipal employer . . . except . . . part-time employees 

 who work less than twenty hours per week on a seasonal basis . . .  
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“employee” covered by the Act, and in doing so, violated her right pursuant to Section 7-

468(a)
9
 to belong to a bargaining unit represented by a recognized labor organization. 

Status as an employee covered by the Act, however, does not in itself establish 

membership in an existing bargaining unit and while we agree with Complainant that her 

position at Lighthouse was neither part-time nor seasonal within the meaning of Section 

7-467(2), nor was it in LIUNA’s bargaining unit.   

 

 Although the Lighthouse YPM position is in the bargaining unit and Complainant 

worked full-time at the program and well in excess of four months, her claim that the 

City intentionally misclassified her as a seasonal beach supervisor to deny her bargaining 

unit wages and benefits fails because we find that she did not perform the essential duties 

of the position. In short, while the record supports a conclusion that Complainant’s 

presence was welcome during a period when the Lighthouse was particularly 

understaffed, we credit Papa’s testimony that Complainant was neither hired nor trained 

to fill the YPM position and that Papa performed the bulk of the YPM work after 

Marella’s retirement. Complainant’s performance of certain tasks that were exclusively 

assigned to the YPM does not establish performance of all essential duties of the position 

as set forth in the job description. Nor do we find that the City violated Complainant’s 

rights under MERA when it assigned her to Lighthouse through the paper fiction of a 

seasonal position in the City’s parks and recreation department. Ricci was empowered to 

fill funded “beach supervisor” positions and while the position title was a misnomer at 

Lighthouse, we credit the testimony of Ricci, Amado, and Papa that Complainant was 

aware at all times that her position was not permanent, that it was without benefits, and 

that it was compensated at a specific hourly rate. Furthermore, Complainant admitted in 

her testimony that she was aware of the provision in the LIUNA collective bargaining 

agreement limiting initial eligibility for vacant unit positions to existing unit members.
10

 

 

 Our standard for assessing claims of illegal retaliation
11

 is well established. 

                                                                                                                                                 
(Emphasis added). 

 
9
 Conn. Gen. Stat. § 7-468 states, in relevant part: 

 

 (a)  Employees shall have, and shall be protected in the exercise of, the right . . . to . . . join . . . any 

 employee organization . . . and to engage in other concerted activities for the purpose of collective 

 bargaining or other mutual aid or protection, free from actual interference, restraint or coercion. 

  

(Emphasis added).   

 
10

 In finding that the City did not violate Complainant’s rights under the Act by refusing to acknowledge 

her incumbency as Lighthouse YPM, we make no finding as to whether the position Complainant held 

should have been in the bargaining unit. Since clarification and modification issues are addressed under the 

Act in petition proceedings commenced by either municipal employers or employee organizations, we have 

no jurisdiction to make such a determination. The legislature amended Conn. Gen. Stat. § 7-471(4) to 

expressly restrict our authority to clarify or to modify existing units to “those times when a petition . . . is 

filed by either an employee organization or an employer.”  Public Acts 1991, No. 91-225, § 2.  See also 

State of Connecticut, Office of Attorney General, Decision No. 4930 (2016).     

 

 
11

 Unlike most retaliation claims which fall under Section 7-470(a)(1) of the Act, the instant claim is made 

under Section 7-470(a)(3) which proscribes retaliation for using  the Labor Board’s processes.  We 

consider our time-tested standard appropriate for such cases with the caveat that proof of  “filing any 



 10 

 

 A complainant alleging that employees were discriminated against in their 

 employment because of [protected concerted] activity has the initial burden of 

 showing that the discriminatory action was taken because of these protected 

 activities, or at least that the protected activities were a substantial factor in 

 bringing about these adverse actions. Town of Greenwich, Decision No. 2257 

 (1983), aff’d O’Brien v. State Board of Labor Relations, 8 Conn. App. 57 

 (1986); Connecticut Yankee Catering Co., Inc. Decision No. 1601 (1977). We 

 determine whether the complainant has met this burden to establish a prima facie 

 case of discrimination using an analytical framework such as is found in Wright 

 Line, 251 NLRB 1083, enfd 622 F.2d 899 (1st
 

Cir. 1981), cert denied 455 U.S. 

 989 (1982), “A prima facie case includes proof that: (1) the employee engaged 

 in protected, concerted activities; (2) the employer had knowledge of those 

 activities; and (3) the employer harbored anti-union animus.” New Britain Board 

 of Education, Decision No. 4290 p. 4 (2008). Once a prima facie case is 

 established, we then address whether the employer has established an affirmative  

 defense which may include proof that the employer would have pursued its course 

 of conduct regardless of any anti-union motivation. City of Hartford, Decision 

 No. 3785 (2000); New Fairfield Board of Education, Decision No. 3327 (1995). 

 

City of Norwalk, Decision No. 4621 p. 6 (2012), appeal dismissed, 156 Conn. App. 79 

(2015).  See also State of Connecticut, OPM, Decision No. 4960 (2017); City of 

Bridgeport, Decision No. 4927 (2016); State of Connecticut, Department of Correction, 

Decision No. 4914 (2016); City of New Haven, Decision No. 4898 (2016); Town of 

Windham, Decision No. 4859 (2016); City of Hartford, Decision No. 4854 (2015); Town 

of Montville, Decision No. 4823 (2015); Town of Hamden, Decision No. 4404 (2009); 

Town of Wallingford, Decision No. 3999 (2004); Orange Board of Education, Decision 

No. 3417 (1996).   

 

 Since it is undisputed that Complainant filed a prohibited practice complaint with 

notice to the City, her burden to establish a prima facie case of unlawful retaliation or 

discrimination turns on the existence of animus which Complainant finds in the City’s 

misclassification of her Lighthouse position and the timing of her termination.  We 

disagree.  Complainant has not established her entitlement to the YPM or any other 

specific position and we find nothing inherently improper in the reassignment of a parks 

and recreation employee to another program to address staffing disparities.  Although the 

timing of Complainant’s termination appears suspect at first glance, we decline to infer 

animus given the evidence before us. 

 

 Complainant alleges that shortly after she filed her complaint the City, through 

Papa, offered her a Typist II position in exchange for a withdrawal of her complaint.
12

  

The City contends that while Papa did advise Complainant to withdraw her complaint, its 

job offer was unconditional. Given the absence of conditions in Amado’s September 21 

                                                                                                                                                 
affidavit, petition or complaint or giv[ing] any information or testimony under Section 4-467 to 4-477” 

equates to proof that the employee engaged in protected, concerted activities.   
12

 Complainant asks us both to ignore the job offer as inadmissible evidence of a settlement attempt and to 

consider Complainant’s rejection of the offer as a basis for the City’s retaliatory animus. Since the offer 

was unconditional, we view it as neither an offer to settle nor evidence of animus.   
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email to Complainant, the record supports the City’s version of what occurred and as 

such, we find that Papa’s statement concerning withdrawal of the prohibited practice 

complaint were recommendations by a sympathetic co-worker rather than descriptions of 

a proposed quid pro quo by an agent of the City.  Furthermore, the City admits that 

Complainant’s termination was prompted by the filing of her prohibited practice 

complaint, but only because her public disclosure that her tenure at Lighthouse had 

exceeded one hundred and twenty calendar days forced the City to either place her in a 

permanent full-time position or comply with the Act’s provisions concerning seasonal 

employees.
13

 While we do not agree with the City that the Act requires a temporary 

employee to be terminated, we do recognize a municipal employer’s right to hire 

employees on a seasonal basis under the legislative compromise reached in Public Acts 

1983, No. 83-503 and in this case, the City’s right to preserve its ability to exclude 

Complainant’s position at Lighthouse from coverage under the Act.
14

 

 

  The evidence does not support a finding of retaliatory animus in this case. The 

City hired Complainant as a temporary seasonal employee with the optimistic expectation 

that she would find a permanent City position in the future. To the benefit of 

Complainant and the Lighthouse program, the City continued to employ Complainant for 

a duration contrary to its own policy concerning seasonal employees and ceased doing so 

only when Complainant’s publication of the violation endangered enforcement of its 

rights under the Act.
 
 Given these facts, we find that the City did not terminate 

Complainant because she filed a prohibited practice complaint alleging a violation her 

rights under the Act but rather because continued employment in her existing position 

would waive the City’s rights under the Act.
 
 Absent animus, Complainant has not met 

her burden to establish a prima facie case of unlawful retaliation and given our other 

findings as set forth above, we dismiss the Complaint. 

 

ORDER 

 

 By virtue of and pursuant to the power vested in the Connecticut State Board of 

Labor Relations by the Municipal Employee Relations Act, it is hereby 

                                                 
 
13

 On direct examination by Complainant’s counsel, Ricci testified as follows:  

 

  Q You decided to terminate her employment? 

  A Yes 

  Q And  you don’t know what triggered that decision to terminate – 

  A  I do. 

  Q -- her employment was her filing a complaint with the Labor Board? 

  A No. What triggered her termination was that once she hired counsel, she made 

 the State aware of the fact that she was beyond the statutory limits. After she refused the 

 permanent position, I had no choice but to terminate her. 

 

Transcript of hearing on April 11, 2018, p. 111. 

 
14

 Notwithstanding the City’s arguments to the contrary, while the Act expressly excludes “seasonal” 

employees as statutorily defined, it does not require termination of such employees after 120 days of 

employment.  See, Conn. Gen. Stat. §§ 7-467(2), (3).  In Public Act 83-503, the legislative “compromise 

reached . . . allowed part-time employees to receive coverage of the Act while excluding employees who 

were employed on a seasonal basis.”   Town of Redding, Decision No. 2959 p. 7 n. 3 (1991). 
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 ORDERED that the complaint filed herein be, and the same hereby is, 

DISMISSED.   

  

  CONNECTICUT STATE BOARD OF LABOR RELATIONS 

 

                Wendella Ault Battey 

     Wendella Ault Battey 

     Acting Chairman 

 

 Barbara J. Collins    

            Barbara J. Collins    

            Board Member 

 

                Kenneth B. Leech 

     Kenneth B. Leech 

     Alternate Board Member 
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 I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing was mailed postage prepaid this 12
th

 

day of September, 2018 to the following: 

 

Attorney Denise Altro-Dixon 

Office of Labor Relations     RRR 

45 Lyon Terrace 

Bridgeport, CT  06604 

 

Attorney Thomas W. Bucci     RRR 

Willinger, Willinger & Bucci, P.C. 

855 Main Street 

Bridgeport, CT 06604 

 

  

 

   _______________________________ 

   Harry B. Elliott, Jr., General Counsel 

   CONNECTICUT STATE BOARD OF LABOR RELATIONS 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 


